# Independent Living Support Pilot Program Service Definition Manual

The Independent Living Support Pilot (ILSP), funded by the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), is intended to offer short-term, flexible, and limited services and supports for people at risk of entering Medicaid long-term care. The ILSP Service Definition Manual details the long-term care services and supports covered by the ILSP program and qualifications providers must meet to provide such services and supports. Service codes are also included in the appendices.

The content within this handbook is the sole responsibility of the Wisconsin Department of Health Services (DHS). Questions on the information included in this manual should be directed to the ILSP team.

# **Table of contents**

Terminology	4
Living situation	5
Housing counseling	5
Moving services	6
Home modifications	6
Support	8
Supportive home care	8
Daily living skills training	9
Respite	10
Personal care	
Training services for unpaid caregivers	
Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers	
Community transportation	
Home-delivered meals	15
Community dining centers	15
Aids, equipment, and supplies	16
Assistive technology (including adaptive and communication aids)	16
Specialized medical equipment and supplies	
Interpreter services	19
Personal emergency response systems (PERS)	20
Treatment-related services	20
Counseling and therapeutic services	20
Consumer education and training	
Day services	22
Adult day care	22
Day services	23
Employment	24
Supported employment—individual	24
Supported employment—group	
Other	28
Individual-directed goods and services	
Financial management services	
Legal services	

Support broker services	
Vehicle modifications	
Assistive technology (AT) or accessibility assessment	
Appendix A: service categories and units	
Terminology	
Service categories	
Appendix B: service code quick reference guide	
Service codes	
Living situation	
Support	
Aids, equipment, and supplies	
Treatment-related	
Day services	
Employment	
Other	

# Terminology

Below are descriptions of the terminology used throughout each service category definition.

**Definition and purpose:** This subsection defines the goods and services covered under the service category, including any conditions that apply to the provision of those goods and services.

**Exclusions:** This subsection identifies items unable to be funded by ILSP in the service category.

**Limits and additional requirements:** A service category may have a limit of number of hours per day available for ILSP funding. Service categories may also require an assistive technology (AT) or accessibility assessment for purchases above a given dollar amount.

**Non-professional provider authority:** This subsection indicates whether a participant may work with non-professional providers to provide services.

**Provider types and qualifications**: ILSP funding may only be used to pay providers who meet the criteria for certification and participation in ILSP. Participants may further specify additional qualifications and/or requirements for a provider to meet. Participants are responsible for ensuring providers meet legal requirements to work and are appropriately qualified. Participants may request the third-party administrator's assistance in verifying provider qualifications and performing background checks.

- **Organization** includes agencies whose employees provide the service or from which goods are purchased, or individuals who are in independent practice and not employed by an agency.
- **Non-professional providers (NPPs)** are individuals hired by the participant to provide services.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
This column indicates whether the service is provided by an organization and/or a non- professional provider (NPP).	This column indicates groupings of providers that deliver services or supports. Provider titles vary for each service category.	This column details the criteria that a provider must meet in order to provide the service or support. Criteria may include the following:
		<ul> <li>A license issued under the authority of state or federal law.</li> <li>A certificate or registration issued by a state agency or other recognized body.</li> <li>Other standard, such as industry-set standards, as specified.</li> </ul>

# Living situation

# **Housing counseling**

## Definition and purpose

Housing counseling is the provision of information and assistance for participants who are looking to acquire and maintain safe, affordable, and accessible housing in the community. Housing counseling includes exploring home ownership and rental options and individual and shared housing options, including options where the participant lives with their family.

Services include:

- Counseling and assisting in identifying housing options.
- Identifying financial resources and determining affordability.
- Identifying preferences of location and type of housing.
- Locating available housing.
- Identifying and assisting in access to financing.
- Explaining the rights and responsibilities of a tenant with disabilities, including how to ask for reasonable accommodations and modifications and how to file a complaint.
- Planning for ongoing management and maintenance.

#### Exclusions

Housing counseling may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity. ILSP funds may not be used to purchase this service if it is otherwise provided to the general public for free.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Agency that meets qualifications	<ul> <li>Providers:</li> <li>Must have expertise in housing issues.</li> <li>Must have housing counseling or assistance as a part of its mission or regular activities.</li> <li>Must not have a direct or indirect financial interest in the property or housing the participant selects.</li> </ul>

# **Moving services**

## Definition and purpose

Moving services are non-recurring setup expenses for participants who are transitioning to an ILSP-eligible housing situation in which the person is directly responsible for their own living expenses. Allowable expenses are those that are necessary to enable the participant to establish a basic household, excluding room and board. These include:

- Security deposits.
- Setup fees for utility or service access, including telephone, electricity, heating, and water.
- Health and safety services, including pest eradication and one-time cleaning prior to occupancy.
- Moving expenses (covered up to 180 days prior to the move).

#### Exclusions

Relocation expenses may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity.

The following are also excluded:

- The cost of room and board, including rental or mortgage expenses, food, and regular utility charges
- Service agreements or extended warranties for appliances or home furnishings

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

## Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Real estate agency, moving company, public utility	Organizations must meet requirements as specified by industry standards.

# **Home modifications**

#### Definition and purpose

Home modifications are physical adaptations to the private residence of a participant or participant's family that ensure the health, welfare, and safety of the participant and enable the participant to function with greater independence in the home. These are generally permanent fixtures and/or changes to the physical structure of the home. This service category also includes costs of materials, services, permits and inspections, maintenance, and extended warranties necessary for a home modification.

Home modifications and services include:

- Accessible alerting systems for smoke, fire, and carbon monoxide.
- Adaptive doorbells, locks, and/or security items, systems, or devices.
- Adaptive lighting.
- Bathroom adaptations for bathing, showering, toileting, and personal care needs.
- Cameras.

- Fences.
- Flush entries and leveled thresholds.
- Heating, cooling, or ventilation systems.
- Kitchen counter, sink, and other cabinet modifications (including brackets for appliances).
- Outside railing to safely access the home.
- Plumbing or electrical adaptations related to approved modifications.
- Raised electrical switches and sockets.
- Ramps from street, sidewalk, or house.
- Slip-resistant flooring.
- Specialized electric and plumbing systems that are necessary to accommodate the participant's necessary medical equipment and supplies.
- Stair gliders and stair lifts.
- Surface protection.
- Swing-clear and expandable offset door hinges.
- Track lift systems.
- Vertical lifts.
- Widened doorways, landings, and hallways.

Acquisition of all modifications, including use of independent assessments, is subject to program policy consistent with this service definition. All modifications are required to comply with applicable local and state housing or building codes and are subject to any inspection required by the municipality responsible for administration of the codes.

#### Exclusions

This service category excludes modifications that:

- Are of general home maintenance and upkeep and are not specifically related to home modifications.
- Are made to living arrangements that are owned or leased by agency providers of other ILSP services.
- Do not meet standards of manufacture, design, and installation.
- Add to the total square footage of the home, except when necessary to complete a modification and shown to be the most cost-effective option.

Home modifications may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity. This service may not duplicate any service that is provided under another service category. ILSP funds may not be used to purchase this service if it is provided to the general public for free.

#### Limits and additional requirements

Home modifications costing more than \$1,000 require an AT or accessibility assessment through a referral to <u>WisTech</u> prior to approval.

After the AT or accessibility assessment has been completed, the participant will work with the ADRC to add the recommended item(s) to their service plan.

Photographic documentation is required for home modifications costing more than \$1,000. Before and after pictures must be submitted with the claim.

## Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

#### Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Carpenters, electrical contractors, electricians, elevator contractors, general or dwelling contractor, HVAC contractor, plumbers, professional engineers	Providers must meet licensure, certification, registration, and/or other standard requirements as specified by industry standards and state statute.

# Support

# Supportive home care

#### Definition and purpose

Supportive home care is the direct and indirect assistance with daily functions and individualized needs to promote improved functioning and safety in a participant's home and community.

Supportive home care services are composed of supports or tasks such as:

- Companion or attendant supports that are necessary for participant safety at home and in the community. This may include observation or indirect assistance with the following:
  - o Ensuring appropriate self-administration of medications
  - o Preparing meals
  - o Paying bills
  - o Communicating
  - o Scheduling and attending appointments
  - o Completing activities detailed in occupational or physical therapy treatment plans
  - o Arranging and using transportation
  - o Participating in non-employment related community activities
- Chore services that assist the participant with maintaining their home environment in a clean, sanitary, and safe manner. Intermittent major household tasks that must be performed seasonally or in response to some natural or other periodic event are also covered.
- Routine care, which is the performance of light housekeeping duties in the participant's home.
- Routine attendant services that are performed directly with the participant. Examples include assistance with activities of daily living or instrumental activities of daily living.

This service also covers the cost of community involvement supports. Community involvement supports assist the participant with engagement in community-integrated events and activities, through the coverage of associated expenses for support staff to accompany a participant, specifically when a participant's attendance is dependent on staff accompaniment. This is limited to the worker's expense only; the participant portion of the expense is the responsibility of the participant.

This service may not duplicate any service that is provided under another ILSP service category. This service category also excludes:

- Representative payee services.
- Payroll bonuses.

#### Non-professional provider authority

The participant is allowed the option of working with non-professional providers.

#### Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
NPP	Non-professional provider	Participants ensure that hired workers have the ability and qualifications to provide this service.
Organization	Supportive home care agency or home health care agency	Organizations must meet requirements as specified by industry standards.

# Daily living skills training

#### Definition and purpose

Daily living skills training is the provision of education and skill development to teach or improve the skills involved in independently performing routine daily activities, including skills to increase the participant's independence and participation in community life. Examples of daily living skills include:

- Money management.
- Home care maintenance.
- Parenting.
- Driving.
- Information technology use.
- Food preparation.
- Mobility.
- Self-care.
- Skills necessary for accessing and using community resources.

Daily living skills training may involve training the participant or the natural support person to assist the participant.

#### Exclusions

Daily living skills training may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category.

## Limits and additional requirements

Daily living skills training is available up to eight hours per day.

#### Non-professional provider authority

The participant is allowed the option of working with non-professional providers.

## Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Daily living skills training agency	Organizations must meet requirements as specified by industry standards.
NPP	Daily living skills trainer	Participants ensure that hired workers have the ability and qualifications to provide this service.

# Respite

#### Definition and purpose

Respite services are provided for a participant on a short-term basis to allow the participant's family or other primary caregiver(s) time away from daily stress and care demands. Respite services may be provided in an institution, such as a certified Medicaid setting (for example, a hospital or nursing home) or other licensed facility. Respite services may also be provided in a residential facility, such as a certified or licensed adult family home, licensed community-based residential facility, certified residential care apartment complex, the participant's own home, or the home of a respite service provider.

#### Exclusions

The receipt of respite services precludes the participant from receiving other ILSP services, such as adult day care and supportive home care, on the same day the participant receives respite services. The exception is when clear documentation exists that service delivery occurred at a separate time from respite services regardless of how the respite payment is structured.

The cost of room and board is excluded, except when provided as part of respite services furnished in a facility approved by the state that is not a private residence or a residential care complex.

Respite may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category.

## Non-professional provider authority

The participant is allowed the option of working with non-professional providers.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Supportive home care agency	Organizations must meet requirements as specified by industry standards.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	1–2 bed adult family home (AFH)	Certified as 1–2 bed AFH by DHS and Wis. Admin. Code ch. DHS 82
Organization	Residential care apartment complex (RCAC)	Wisconsin Admin. Code ch. DHS 89
Organization	Personal care agency	Wisconsin Admin. Code § DHS 105.17
Organization	Hospital	Wisconsin Admin. Code ch. DHS 124
Organization	Nursing home	Wisconsin Admin. Code chs. DHS 132 and 134
Organization	Community-based residential facility (CBRF)	Wisconsin Admin. Code ch. DHS 83
Organization	3–4 bed adult family home	Wisconsin Admin. Code ch. DHS 88
NPP	Non-professional provider	Participants ensure that hired workers have the ability and qualifications to provide this service.

# **Personal care**

#### Definition and purpose

Personal care services are medically oriented activities provided upon written orders of a physician. The personal care worker's training for these specific tasks shall be ensured by the organization's supervising registered nurse. The personal care worker is limited to performing only those tasks and services as assigned for each recipient and for which he or she has been specifically trained.

#### Exclusions

Personal care services may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity. This service may not duplicate any service that is provided under another ILSP service category.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Personal care agency	Wisconsin Admin. Code § DHS 105.17

# Training services for unpaid caregivers

#### Definition and purpose

This service is the provision of training services for individuals who deliver uncompensated care, training, companionship, supervision, or other supports to participants.

Training includes instruction about treatment regimens, use of specialized equipment, and guidance to safely maintain the participant in the community.

Training must be aimed at assisting the unpaid caregiver in meeting the needs of the participant. All training for individuals who provide unpaid support to the participant must directly relate to the individual's role in supporting the participant.

This service includes, but is not limited to:

- Online or in-person training.
- Conferences.
- Resource materials on the specific disabilities, illnesses, or conditions that affect the participant.

The purpose of the training is for the caregiver to learn more about participant's condition, what to expect, and how to provide the best care for someone with that specific condition. For example, training could be provided on how to effectively care for a participant with dementia.

Training includes registration costs and fees associated with formal instruction in areas that are relevant to the participant's needs.

#### Exclusions

Training services for unpaid caregivers may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category.

This service may not be provided to train paid caregivers and excludes payment for lodging and/or meal expenses incurred while attending a training event or conference.

This service also excludes teaching self-advocacy, which is covered under consumer education and training services.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Training or service agency, professional services agency	This training must be provided by licensed, certified, or accredited professionals who maintain current credentials in their field of practice. For example, training could be provided by registered nurses, licensed mental health professionals, or licensed therapists.

# **Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers**

## Definition and purpose

Clinical and therapeutic services support paid or unpaid caregivers in facilitating the participant's independence and inclusion in their community.

The service includes:

- Assessments.
- Development of home treatment plans, support plans, and intervention plans.
- Training and technical assistance to carry out any plans developed as part of the program.
- Consultation with providers and potential providers.
- Monitoring of the participant and the provider in the implementation of the program plans.

These services may be provided in the participant's home or in the community, as described in the participant's service plan.

#### Exclusions

None

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Counseling or therapy provider or organization	<ul> <li>License:</li> <li>Wisconsin Stat. ch. 448</li> <li>Wisconsin Admin. Code § DHS 61.35</li> <li>Certificate:</li> <li>Wisconsin Stat. ch. 448</li> <li>Wisconsin Stat. § 440.312</li> <li>Wisconsin Admin. Code § DHS 61.35</li> <li>Other standard: meets industry standards</li> </ul>

# **Community transportation**

#### Definition and purpose

Community transportation is the transport of a participant to and from an ILSP service; place of employment; or community service, activity, or resource. The cost of community transportation is covered in accordance with Internal Revenue Service policy as outlined in the participant's service plan. Community transportation is offered in addition to medical transportation required under 42 C.F.R. 431.53 and transportation services under Medicaid, defined in 42 C.F.R. 440.170(a) (if applicable), and does not replace them.

#### Exclusions

Transportation services may only be funded through the ILSP when the services are not provided by a legally responsible third-party, such as school, private insurance, or a public entity. Whenever possible, family, neighbors, friends, community agencies, or local government programs that can provide this service without charge should be prioritized and used.

Community transportation may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity. This service may not duplicate any service that is provided under another service category.

#### Non-professional provider authority

The participant is allowed the option of working with non-professional providers.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications	
Organization	Mass transit provider	Must be considered a mass transit as defined under Wis. Stat. §§ 85.20 and 85.23	
Organization	Taxi or common motor carrier	Must be considered a taxi or common motor carrier as defined under Wis. Stat. § 194	
Organization	Specialized transportation provider	Must be considered specialized transportation as defined under Wis. Stat. §§ 85.21 and 85.22	
NPP	Non-professional provider	Participants ensure that hired workers have the ability and qualifications to provide this service.	
		Providers must have the following:	
		<ul> <li>Valid driver's license appropriate to the type of transportation being provided</li> <li>Adequate insurance coverage, including liability auto insurance</li> </ul>	

# **Home-delivered meals**

#### Definition and purpose

Home-delivered meals are meals provided to participants who are unable to prepare or obtain nourishing meals without assistance, including those who may be unable to manage a special diet recommended by their physician. Home-delivered meal costs may include costs associated with the purchase and planning of food, nutrition services, supplies, equipment, labor, and transportation.

#### Exclusions

Home-delivered meals may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another ILSP service category.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

#### Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Restaurants	Wisconsin Admin. Code ch. ATCP 75
Organization	Aging network agency	Wisconsin Stat. § 46.82(3)
Organization	Hospitals or nursing homes	Wisconsin Admin. Code chs. DHS 124, 132, and 134

# **Community dining centers**

#### Definition and purpose

Community dining centers are facilities that provide nutritious meals in a communal environment outside of the home. This option is afforded to participants who are unable to prepare or obtain nourishing meals without assistance, including those who may be unable to manage a special diet recommended by their physician.

#### Exclusions

Community dining centers may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another ILSP service category.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Aging network agency	Wisconsin Stat. § 46.82(3)

# Aids, equipment, and supplies

# Assistive technology (including adaptive and communication aids)

## Definition and purpose

Assistive technology is an item, piece of equipment, software or application, service dog, or product system whether acquired commercially, modified, or customized—that is used to increase, maintain, or improve functional capabilities of participants. This service category includes assistive technology typically referred to as adaptive or communication aids. This service category also includes extended warranties, cost of maintenance, ancillary supplies, software, and equipment necessary for the proper functioning of assistive technology.

Assistive technology also includes services that directly assist a participant in the acquisition or use of assistive technology, such as:

- Services consisting of purchasing, renting, or otherwise providing for the acquisition of assistive technology for participants.
- Services consisting of designing, fitting, customizing, adapting, applying, maintaining, repairing, or replacing assistive technology.
- Coordination and use of necessary therapies, interventions, or services with assistive technology.
- Training or technical assistance for the participant or family members, guardians, advocates, or authorized representatives of the participant.
- Training or technical assistance for professionals or other individuals who provide services to, employ, or are otherwise substantially involved in the major life functions of participants.

Assistive technology also includes the purchase of a service dog. A service dog is defined as a dog that is individually trained by a provider experienced in providing structured training for service dogs to do work or perform tasks for the participant that are directly related to the participant's disability. Costs are limited to the following:

- Purchase of a service dog
- Post-purchase training that is necessary to partner a service dog with the participant owner
- Ongoing maintenance costs of a service dog that include preventative, acute, and primary veterinary care, and items necessary for the service dog to perform its task or work

Assistive technology may be purchased, new or used, or leased to the participant. All assistive technology must meet the standards in manufacture, safety, design, and installation of applicable regulatory bodies such as UL Solutions (formerly Underwriters Laboratories) and the Federal Communications Commission.

#### Exclusions

Assistive technology and services may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity. This service may not duplicate any service that is provided under another ILSP service category.

## Limits and additional requirements

Assistive technology purchases costing more than \$1,000 require an AT or accessibility assessment prior to approval.

After the AT or accessibility assessment has been completed, the participant will work with the ADRC to add the recommended item(s) to their service plan.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Veterinary clinic, veterinarian	Must meet licensure requirements defined under Wis. Stat. § 89.06
Organization	Qualified health care professional and/or agency	Agencies must employ "qualified health care professionals." A "qualified health care professional" as
		defined under Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 107.24 means any of the following:
		<ul> <li>A physician or physician assistant licensed under Wis. Stat. ch. 448, subch. II</li> <li>A physical therapist licensed under Wis. Stat. ch. 448, subch. III</li> <li>An occupational therapist licensed under Wis. Stat. ch. 448, subch. VII</li> <li>A chiropractor licensed under Wis. Stat. ch. 446</li> </ul>
Organization	Service dog training or provider and/or agency	Organizations must meet requirements as specified by industry standards.
Organization	Authorized durable medical equipment and medical supply vendor	Must meet criteria defined under Wis. Admin. Code §§ DHS 105.40 and 107.24.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Other assistive technology vendor	Items must be purchased from a vendor meeting industry standards.
		Items purchased must meet a reasonable buyer expectation of quality and performance.
		Items must meet and be installed according to standards in manufacture, safety, design, and installation of applicable regulatory bodies such as UL Solutions (formerly Underwriters Laboratories) and the Federal Communications Commission.

# Specialized medical equipment and supplies

#### Definition and purpose

Specialized medical equipment and supplies include items or devices necessary to maintain the participant's health, manage a medical or physical condition, improve or maintain functioning, or enhance independence. This includes electronic medication management devices. The costs of maintenance and warranty for such medical equipment and supplies may also be covered under this service category.

All specialized medical equipment and supplies require a qualified health care professional's order. All specialized medical equipment and supplies must meet the standards in manufacture, safety, design, and installation of applicable regulatory bodies such as UL Solutions (formerly Underwriters Laboratories) and the Federal Communications Commission.

#### Exclusions

This service category excludes those items that are not of direct medical or remedial benefit to the participant. Items not regulated by the federal Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as nutritional or dietary supplements are excluded.

This service category may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity. This service may not duplicate any service that is provided under another ILSP service category.

## Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

#### Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Authorized durable medical equipment and medical supply vendor	Must meet criteria defined under Wis. Admin. Code §§ DHS 105.40 and 107.24
Organization	Licensed pharmacy	Must meet licensure requirements defined under Wis. Stat. ch. 450
Organization	Other vendor	Organizations must meet requirements as specified by industry standards.

## **Interpreter services**

#### Definition and purpose

Interpreter services are provided to participants who are Deaf or hard of hearing; have hearing, speech, or vision impairments; or require assistance accessing ILSP services due to a language barrier.

#### Exclusions

This service category does not cover interpreter services provided by a spouse, relative, or guardian. Interpreter services may only be funded when it is not the responsibility of the service provider, fiscal agent, or another party to provide this service. Furthermore, interpreter services may only be funded if they are not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity. This service may not duplicate any service that is provided under another ILSP service category. ILSP funds may not be used to purchase this service if it is provided to the general public for free.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Interpreter or interpretation agency that employs licensed sign language interpreters for the Deaf or hard of hearing	Must meet licensure requirements defined under Wis. Stat. § 440.032
Organization	Interpretation, facilitation, or translation provider or agency	ADA qualified interpreter who is able to interpret effectively, accurately, and impartially both receptively and expressively, using necessary specialized vocabulary

# Personal emergency response systems (PERS)

## Definition and purpose

A personal emergency response system (PERS) is a service that provides a direct telephonic or other electronic communications link between someone living in the community and health professionals to secure immediate response and assistance in the event of a physical, emotional, or environmental emergency. This service may include devices and services necessary for operation of PERSs when those devices and services are otherwise not available.

This service may also include installation, upkeep, and maintenance of devices or systems as appropriate.

#### Exclusions

PERSs may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category.

The ILSP program excludes funding for the installation and/or monthly cost of landline service when a landline currently exists.

## Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

#### Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	PERS vendor	UL Solutions standards for electronic devices or FCC regulations for telephonic devices.

# **Treatment-related services**

# **Counseling and therapeutic services**

#### Definition and purpose

Counseling and therapeutic services is the provision of professional, treatment-oriented services, resources, or interventions to maintain or improve participant health, welfare, or functioning in the community. This service addresses a participant's identified personal, social, physical, medical, behavioral, emotional, cognitive, mental, or substance abuse treatment needs and is recommended by a mental health professional or qualified health care professional. A "qualified health care professional" as defined under Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 107.24, means any of the following:

- A physician or physician assistant licensed under Wis. Stat. ch. 448, subch. II
- A physical therapist licensed under Wis. Stat. ch. 448, subch. III
- An occupational therapist licensed under Wis Stat. ch. 448, subch. VII
- A chiropractor licensed under Wis. Stat. ch. 446

These services include aging or disability adjustment and adaptation counseling, interpersonal therapy, recreational therapy, music therapy, art therapy, aquatic therapy, massage therapy, nutritional counseling,

medical counseling, behavioral counseling, weight counseling, and grief counseling. Costs directly associated with any counseling or therapies received are included in this service.

This service also covers the participant's direct expense related to health club memberships and camps. These expenses may not be recreational or diversional in nature. This must be demonstrated on the participant's service plan.

#### Exclusions

This service category excludes the following:

- Inpatient services
- Services provided by a physician
- Costs associated with bringing an attendant to assist participants in attending counseling and therapeutic sessions

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Counseling/therapy provider or organization	License: • Wisconsin Stat. ch. 448 • Wisconsin Admin. Code § DHS 61.35 Certificate: • Wisconsin Stat. ch. 448 • Wisconsin Stat. § 440.312 • Wisconsin Admin. Code § DHS 61.35 Other standard: meets industry standards
Organization	Camp	American Camp Association (ACA) accreditation
Organization	Fitness center	Meets standards per Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 100.178

## Provider types and qualifications

# **Consumer education and training**

#### Definition and purpose

Consumer education and training services are designed to help participants develop self-advocacy skills, support self-determination, exercise civil rights, and acquire skills needed to exercise control and responsibility over services and supports.

Self-advocacy skills enable participants to communicate wants and needs, make informed decisions, and develop trusted supports with whomever they can share concerns.

The consumer education and training service category includes education and training for participants, their caregivers, and legal representatives that is directly related to developing such skills.

Covered expenses may include enrollment fees, books and other educational materials, and transportation related to participation in training courses, conferences, and other similar events.

## Exclusions

Consumer education and training services may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category. This service excludes educationally related services available under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq) or other relevant funding sources.

This service also excludes all forms of college tuition.

The ILSP program also excludes payments for hotel and meal expenses while participants or their legal representatives attend allowable training or education events.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Education and training agency, personal assistant, teacher	Competent and qualified providers of consumer education and training with expertise in problem solving, self-advocacy skills development, self-determination, community integration, financial management, and decision-making

# Provider types and qualifications

# Day services

# Adult day care

#### Definition and purpose

Adult day cares provide services for part of a day in a non-residential group setting to participants who need an enriched social or health-supportive experience or need assistance with activities of daily living, supervision, and/or protection.

Services may include personal care and supervision, light meals, medical care, and transportation to and from the day care site. Transportation between the participant's place of residence and the adult day care center may be provided as a component part of adult day care services. The cost of this transportation is included in the rate paid to providers of adult day care services.

Adult day care may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category. Adult day care cannot be provided within a substitute care setting.

#### Limits and additional requirements

Adult day care is available up to eight hours per day.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

#### Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Adult day care provider	Wisconsin Stat. § 49.45

# Day services

#### Definition and purpose

Day services are the provision of regularly scheduled activities in a non-residential setting. This can include assistance with acquisition, retention, or improvement in self-help, socialization, and adaptive skills that enhance social development. Day services can also help the participant develop skills in performing routine daily activities and participating fully in their communities. Activities and environments are designed to build positive social behavior, interpersonal competence, greater independence, and personal choice.

Day services enable the participant to attain or maintain their maximum potential and are coordinated with any needed therapies, such as physical, occupational, or speech therapy.

For participants with degenerative conditions, day service activities may include training and supports to maintain skills and functioning and slow regression, rather than acquiring new skills or improving existing skills.

Day services may also be used to provide retirement activities. As some participants get older, they may no longer desire to work and may need supports to assist them in meaningful retirement activities in their communities.

Day services must be provided in a variety of settings in the community outside the participant's residence. Day services may take place in stores, restaurants, libraries, parks, recreational facilities, community centers, or any other place in the community.

Transportation may be provided between a participant's place of residence and the site of day service activities or between day service activities sites (in cases where the participant receives day services in more than one place) as a component part of day services activities.

Personal care or assistance may be a component part of day services, as necessary to meet the need of participants, but may not comprise the entirety of the service. Participants who receive day services may also receive education and supported employment.

Day services may not provide for the payment of services that are vocational in nature (that is, for the primary purpose of producing goods or performing services). Day services may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

## Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications		
Organization	Adult day center services or treatment provider	Wisconsin Admin. Code ch. DHS 61		

# Employment

# Supported employment—individual

#### Definition and purpose

Supported employment for an individual is the provision of ongoing supports and services to participants who need intensive support to obtain and maintain a job in competitive integrated employment. The outcome of this service is sustained paid employment at or above the minimum wage in an integrated setting in the general workforce, in a job that meets personal and career goals.

This service can be provided through different models and includes:

- Vocational or job-related discovery or assessment.
- Participant-centered employment planning.
- Work incentive benefits counseling.
- Job placement.
- Job supports and/or coaching.
- Job development.
- Negotiation with prospective employers.
- Job analysis.
- Job carving.
- Training and systematic instruction.
- Asset development.
- Career advancement services.
- Tools and equipment needed to work effectively.

Other workplace supports include services not specifically related to job skills training but that enable the participant to successfully integrate into the job setting.

This service also includes supports to establish or maintain self-employment, which includes:

- Aiding the participant to identify potential business opportunities.
- Assisting in the development of a business plan, including identifying potential sources of business financing and developing a business.
- Identifying the supports that are necessary for the participant to operate the business.
- Providing assistance, counseling, and guidance once the business has been launched.

The cost of transportation for a participant to get to and from a supported employment site may be included in the reimbursement paid to the supported employment provider or may be covered and reimbursed under specialized transportation, but not both. All providers of transportation shall ensure that the provider qualifications for specialized transportation are met.

## Exclusions

This service category excludes:

- Supports for the performance of volunteer work.
- Incentive payments made to an employer to encourage or subsidize the employer's participation in supported employment.
- Payment for supervision, training, support, and adaptations typically available to other non-disabled workers filling similar positions in the business.
- Services provided in facility-based work settings or other types of vocational services furnished in specialized facilities that are not part of general community workplaces.

## Non-professional provider authority

The participant is allowed the option of working with non-professional providers.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications	
NPP	Non-professional provider	Participants ensure that providers have the ability and qualifications to provide this service.	
		Providers should meet Association of People Supporting Employment First (APSE) supported employment competencies relevant to the particular aspect(s) of supported employment being provided.	
		For self-employment, providers must have knowledge of the unique needs and preferences of the participant and knowledge of self-employment best practices.	
		The provider must comply with all applicable occupational health and safety standards of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA).	

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Supported employment agency	Providers must meet national APSE's supported employment competencies relevant to particular aspect(s) of supported employment being provided.
		For self-employment, providers must have knowledge of the unique needs and preferences of the participant and knowledge of self-employment best practices.
		The provider must comply with all applicable occupational health and safety standards of OSHA.

# Supported employment—group

#### Definition and purpose

The supported employment—group category includes services and training activities provided in regular business, industry, and community settings for groups of two to eight workers receiving supported employment. Supported employment must be provided in a manner that promotes integration into the workplace and interaction between participants and people without disabilities. The outcome of this service is sustained paid employment and work experience leading to further career development and individual integrated community-based employment for which an individual is compensated at or above the minimum wage but not less than the customary wage and level of benefits paid by the employer for the same or similar work performed by individuals without disabilities.

This service can be provided through different models and includes:

- Vocational or job-related discovery or assessment.
- Participant-centered employment planning.
- Work incentive benefits counseling.
- Job placement.
- Job supports and/or coaching.
- Job development.
- Negotiation with prospective employers.
- Job analysis.
- Job carving.
- Training and systematic instruction.
- Asset development.
- Career advancement services.
- Tools and equipment needed to work effectively.

Other workplace supports include services that may not be specifically related to job skills training but enable the ILSP participant to successfully integrate into the job setting.

The cost of transportation for a participant to get to and from a small group supported employment site may be included in the reimbursement paid to the supported employment provider or may be covered and reimbursed under specialized transportation, but not both. All providers of transportation shall ensure that the provider qualifications for specialized transportation are met.

## Exclusions

This service category excludes:

- Supports for the performance of volunteer work.
- Incentive payments made to an employer to encourage or subsidize the employer's participation in supported employment.
- Payment for supervision, training, support, or adaptations typically available to other non-disabled workers filling similar positions in the business.
- Services provided in facility-based work settings or other types of vocational services furnished in specialized facilities that are not part of general community workplaces.

# Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications	
Organization	Prevocational provider, supported employment agency, or community rehabilitation program (CRP)	Community rehabilitation centers (CRPs) must be federally identified 14(c) certificate holders through the U.S. Department of Labor.	
		Other providers should maintain the following credentials:	
		<ul> <li>Providers should meet Association of People Supporting Employment First (APSE) supported employment competencies relevant to the particular aspect(s) of supported employment being provided.</li> <li>For self-employment, providers must have knowledge of the unique needs and preferences of the participant and knowledge of self-employment best practices.</li> <li>Providers must comply with all applicable occupational health and safety standards of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA).</li> </ul>	

# Other

# Individual-directed goods and services

## Definition and purpose

Individual-directed goods and services are services, equipment, or supplies that address or enhance the participant's opportunity to achieve their long-term support need but are not already covered under another service category. Internet service coverage related to a participant's functional need is included in this category.

The service, equipment, or supply must not be captured under an exclusion of another service category. Each service, equipment, or supply selected must clearly address a long-term support need documented in the service plan and meet the additional following requirements:

- The participant is reasonably unable to obtain the good or service from another source.
- The good or service:
  - o Promotes or maintains inclusion in the community.
  - o Increases or maintains the participant's safety in the home environment.

Any service, equipment, or supply included under this service definition is subject to review by DHS prior to service authorization and utilization.

#### Exclusions

Experimental or prohibited treatments are excluded.

## Non-professional provider authority

The participant is allowed the option of working with non-professional providers.

## Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications		
NPP	Non-professional provider	Participants ensure that providers have the ability and qualifications to provide this service.		
Organization	Home health care agency, supportive home care agency, aging network agency, education and training agency, or other merchants or contractors	Meets applicable industry standards		

# **Financial management services**

#### Definition and purpose

Financial management services may be utilized to assist participants in managing their income and assets, independent from the ILSP. This service may help a participant make a financial plan that allows them to maintain independence at home. One-time and regular monitoring services are allowable in this category.

Financial management services may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category. A financial manager may not have any affiliation to the ILSP third-party administrator.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

## Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Financial manager	Providers must first be credentialled as a certified financial planner, chartered financial analyst, chartered financial consultant, certified public accountant, or retirement income certified professional.

# Legal services

#### Definition and purpose

Legal services are available to participants in need of support with legal advice related to their disability. Examples include wills, trusts, and powers of attorney.

#### Exclusions

Legal services may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

#### Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications			
Organization	Attorney	Providers must first be credentialled as a licensed attorney through the Wisconsin state bar.			

# **Support broker services**

#### Definition and purpose

A support broker is an individual who assists participants with fulfilling identified long-term care needs and outcomes by providing the participant with flexible and individualized support.

Support brokers must be knowledgeable of the ILSP program, the typical kinds of needs of people in the participant's target group, and other local community-integrated services and resources available to the participant.

Non-professional provider authority and budget authority responsibilities may not be delegated to this service. This service may not duplicate services otherwise provided through Medicaid, Medicare, or provided under another service category.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

#### Provider types and qualifications

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Support broker provider or agency	An individual may be considered a qualified support broker only when they demonstrate adequate knowledge of the unique needs and preferences of the participant and the participant's specific target group, and they have knowledge of the local service delivery system and local resources available to the participant. The participant can decide the amount and type of training they require of the support broker.

# Vehicle modifications

#### Definition and purpose

Vehicle modifications are physical adaptations to the vehicle that is the participant's primary means of transportation. Vehicle modifications accommodate the specialized needs of a participant and enable the participant to function with greater independence in the community. This service category also includes the cost of materials, services, inspections, maintenance, and extended warranties necessary for a vehicle modification.

Vehicle modifications and services include:

- Customized devices necessary for the participant to be transported safely in the community, including tie-downs and wheelchair docking systems.
- Driver control devices, including hand controls and pedal adjusters.
- Inspections required for a modification.
- Interior alterations to seats, head and leg rests, and belts.
- Modifications needed to accommodate a participant's sensitivity to sound, light, or other environmental conditions.
- Portable ramps, when the sole purpose of the ramp is for the participant to access the vehicle.
- Raised roof or lowered floor to accommodate wheelchairs.
- Vehicular lifts, platforms, carriers, and curb-siders.

All vehicle modifications must meet the standards in manufacture, safety, design, and installation of applicable regulatory bodies such as UL Solutions (formerly Underwriters Laboratories) and the Federal Communications Commission.

This service category excludes:

- Modifications to the vehicle that are of general utility and are not of direct medical or remedial benefit to the individual.
- Modifications to vehicles that are owned or leased by agency providers of ILSP services.
- Modification costs that exceed the value of the vehicle to be modified.
- Purchase or lease of a vehicle (except for the portion of a new or used vehicle purchase that directly relates to the cost of accessibility adaptations).
- Regularly scheduled upkeep and maintenance of a vehicle (except for upkeep and maintenance of the modifications).

Vehicle modifications may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or a responsible private or public entity. This service may not duplicate any service that is provided under another service category.

## Limits and additional requirements

Vehicle modifications costing more than \$1,000 require an AT or accessibility assessment through a referral to <u>WisTech</u> prior to approval.

After the AT or accessibility consult has been completed, the participant will work with the ADRC to add the recommended item(s) to their service plan.

Photographic documentation is required for vehicle modifications costing more than \$1,000. Before and after pictures must be submitted with the claim.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Motor vehicle modifier	<ul> <li>Providers must:</li> <li>Be registered as a "vehicle modifier" with the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (49 CFR 595.6).</li> <li>Meet requirements outlined in 49 CFR 595.7.</li> <li>Install equipment according to the manufacturer's requirements and instructions.</li> </ul>

# Assistive technology (AT) or accessibility assessment

#### Definition and purpose

AT or accessibility assessments are performed by highly trained individuals with experience in this field. The assessor assists the participant in identifying which modifications will best meet their individualized needs. The assessor provides a report to the participant and ADRC with these recommendations.

After the AT or accessibility assessment has been completed, the participant will work with the ADRC to add the recommended item(s) to their service plan.

#### Exclusions

AT or accessibility assessments may only be funded through the ILSP when otherwise not available through Medicaid, Medicare, or under another service category.

#### Non-professional provider authority

Non-professional providers are not allowable in this service category.

Provider type	Provider title	Qualifications
Organization	Qualified home modification or assistive technology assessor	<ul> <li>Providers must meet one of the following qualifications:</li> <li>Certified assistive technology professional</li> <li>Certified seating and mobility specialist</li> <li>WisTech subcontractors, including independent living center (ILC) AT specialists</li> <li>Certified AT assessor through WisTech</li> <li>Certified home or vehicle modification assessor</li> </ul>

# **Appendix A: service categories and units**

# Terminology

This section details applicable service category information.

Category	Good or service	Units	Provider type
This is a description of the group to which each service or good belongs.	This is a description of the type of service.	<ul> <li>This is the unit of time in which the good or service is billed.</li> <li>There are cases where ORGs may bill by a unit that NPPs cannot. In that case "ORG only" is listed.</li> <li>The "other" category states the specific unit the good or service may be billed under.</li> <li>A blank space indicates the good or service is not eligible for billing under this unit.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>This refers to what type of provider is allowable.</li> <li>ORG=Provider organization or vendor.</li> <li>NPP=Non-professional provider</li> </ul>

# Service categories

Catagory	Good or service	Units				Drovidor tupo
Category	Good of service	15 min	Per diem	Each	Other	Provider type
	Home modification			Х		ORG
Living	Housing counseling service				Hourly	ORG
situation	Moving—community transition services			Х		ORG
Support	Community involvement support reimbursement			Х		NPP
	Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers (family member)	x		Х		ORG
	Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers (non-family member)	х		х		ORG
	Daily living skills training	x	ORG only			NPP ORG
	Meal-home-delivered			Х		ORG

Catagony	Good or service	Units				Durvidenterre
Category		15 min	Per diem	Each	Other	Provider type
Support	Meal—community dining center			Х		ORG
	Medication reminder service, not face-to-face				Monthly	ORG
	Personal care services	Х				ORG
	Respite in other setting	х	ORG only			NPP ORG
	Respite in participant's home	х	ORG only			NPP ORG
	Supportive home care— chore service	х	ORG only			NPP ORG
	Supportive home care— companion service	х	ORG only			NPP ORG
	Supportive home care— routine	х	ORG only			NPP ORG
	Supportive home care— routine attendant		х			ORG
	Training services for unpaid caregivers	х		Х		ORG
	Transportation				Miles	NPP ORG
	Transportation pass			Х		ORG
	Transportation trip			Х		ORG
	Transportation trip or pass for participant's attendant			Х		ORG
Aids, equipment, and supplies	Assistive technology— purchase			Х		ORG
	Assistive technology (used)—purchase			Х		ORG
	Communication aid— purchase			Х		ORG
	Electronic medication management device— installation			Х		ORG

Catagory	Good or service	Units				Duraidan barra
Category		15 min	Per diem	Each	Other	Provider type
	Electronic medication management device— purchase			Х		ORG
	Electronic medication management device—rental			Х		ORG
	Electronic medication management device— telephone line costs			Х		ORG
	Electronic support equipment (video, movement, sound)— installation and testing fees			х		ORG
Aids,	Interpreter service			Х		ORG
equipment, and supplies	Personal emergency response system (PERS)— installation and testing fees			Х		ORG
	Personal emergency response system (PERS)— monthly service fee				Monthly	ORG
	Personal emergency response system—one-time purchase			Х		ORG
	Specialized medical supplies—purchase			Х		ORG
	Specialized medical equipment—purchase			Х		ORG
Treatment- related services	Alternative therapy session			Х		ORG
	Behavior treatment therapy	Х				ORG
	Consumer education and training—individual session			Х		ORG
	Consumer education and training—group session					ORG
	Counseling and therapeutic service				Hourly	ORG
	Counseling and therapeutic service in an overnight camp			Х		ORG

Category	Good or service	Units				
		15 min	Per diem	Each	Other	Provider type
	Counseling and therapeutic service supply or expense			Х		ORG
	Fitness class			Х		ORG
	Health club membership fee				Annual	ORG
	Health club membership fee				Monthly	ORG
	Health club membership fee—initial			Х		ORG
	Massage therapy	Х				ORG
Treatment- related services	Nutritional counseling session			Х		ORG
	Occupational therapy in the participant's home		х			ORG
	Physical therapy in the participant's home		х			ORG
	Recreation or community day camp		х			ORG
	Speech therapy session			Х		ORG
	Weight management counseling session			Х		ORG
Day services	Adult day care	Х	Х			ORG
	Adult day care specialized service	х	х			ORG
	Community-based day services	х	х			ORG
	Facility-based day services	Х	Х			ORG
Employment	Supported employment in integrated setting (1–2 people)	x		ORG only		NPP ORG
	Supported employment— group (3–8 people)	х		Х		ORG
	Work incentive benefits counseling	Х		Х		ORG

Catagory	Good or service		Unit	s		Provider type
Category	Good of service	15 min	Per diem	Each	Other	Provider type
Employment	Work incentive benefits counseling—group session (3–8 people)					
	Assistive technology or accessibility assessment			Х		ORG
	Background check for non- professional providers			Х		ORG
Other	Financial management services	x		Х		ORG
	Individual-directed goods and services			Х		NPP ORG
	Legal services	Х		Х		ORG
	Support broker services	Х				ORG
	Vehicle modification			Х		ORG

# **Appendix B: service code quick reference guide**

This guide includes the service description, unit type, code, and any applicable modifiers for each service category described in this manual.

## **Service codes**

This section details applicable service code information.

Good or service	Code	Modifier	Standard Program Category (SPC) code	Provider type
This is a detailed description of the service that includes the type of service and how the service unit is coded for billing (for example, daily, each, 15 minutes, hourly).	The code is the claim billing code that the service must be billed under and must be submitted on the claim.	The modifier is additional claim billing code information that must be attached.	The SPC code is submitted with the claim. It is a state- defined code used for service categorization and grouping.	<ul> <li>The types of providers to which the code and long service description apply.</li> <li>ORG=Provider organization or vendor.</li> <li>NPP=Non-professional provider</li> </ul>

# Living situation

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Home modification (each)	S5165				112.56	ORG
Housing counseling service (hourly)	T2013	UD			610.00	ORG
Housing counseling service, remote (hourly)	T2013	UD	95		610.00	ORG
Moving—community transition services (each)	T2038				106.03	ORG

# Support

### Supportive home care

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Community involvement support reimbursement (each)	S5121	UN			104.14	NPP
Medication reminder service, not face-to-face (monthly)	S5185				112.46	ORG
Supportive home care— chore service (15 minutes)	S5120				104.24	ORG
Supportive home care— chore service, remote (15 minutes)	S5120	95			104.24	ORG
Supportive home care— chore service (each)	S5121	U7			104.14	ORG
Supportive home care— chore service, remote (each)	S5121	U7	95		104.14	ORG
Supportive home care— chore service (15 minutes)	S5120	U1			104.24	NPP
Supportive home care— chore service, remote (15 minutes)	S5120	U1	95		104.24	NPP
Supportive home care— companion (15 minutes)	S5135				104.17	ORG
Supportive home care— companion, remote (15 minutes)	S5135	95			104.17	ORG
Supportive home care— companion (per diem)	S5136	UJ			104.17	ORG
Supportive home care— companion, remote (per diem)	S5136	UJ	95		104.17	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Supportive home care— companion (15 minutes)	S5135	U1			104.17	NPP
Supportive home care— companion, remote (15 minutes)	S5135	U1	95		104.17	NPP
Supportive home care— on-call companion (per diem)	S5136	UD			104.17	ORG
Supportive home care— routine (15 minutes)	S5125				104.23	ORG
Supportive home care— routine, remote (15 minutes)	S5125	95			104.23	ORG
Supportive home care— routine (per diem)	S5126				104.13	ORG
Supportive home care— routine, remote (per diem)	S5126	95			104.13	ORG
Supportive home care— routine attendant (per diem)	S5131	UJ			104.10	ORG
Supportive home care— routine attendant, remote (per diem)	S5131	UJ	95		104.10	ORG
Supportive home care— routine (15 minutes)	S5125	U1			104.23	NPP
Supportive home care— routine, remote (15 minutes)	S5125	U1	95		104.23	NPP
Supportive home care— routine on-call attendant (per diem)	S5131	UD			104.10	ORG

## Daily living skills training

### Service codes

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Daily living skills training (15 minutes)	T2017				110.00	ORG
Daily living skills training (15 minutes)	T2017	U1			110.00	NPP
Daily living skills training, remote (15 minutes)	T2017	U1	95		110.00	NPP
Daily living skills training, remote (15 minutes)	T2017	95			110.00	ORG
Daily living skills training (per diem)	T2012				110.00	ORG
Daily living skills training, remote (per diem)	T2012	95			110.00	ORG

## Respite

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Respite in other setting (15 minutes)	T1005				103.99	ORG
Respite in other setting (per diem)	H0045				103.99	ORG
Respite in other setting (per diem)	H0045	UJ			103.99	ORG
Respite in other setting (15 minutes)	T1005	U1			103.99	NPP
Respite in other setting, remote (15 minutes)	T1005	U1	95		103.99	NPP
Respite in other setting, remote (15 minutes)	T1005	95			103.99	ORG
Respite in other setting, remote (per diem)	H0045	UJ	95		103.99	ORG
Respite in participant's home (15 minutes)	T1005				103.26	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Respite in participant's home (per diem)	S9125				103.26	ORG
Respite in participant's home (per diem)	S9125	UJ			103.26	ORG
Respite in participant's home (15 minutes)	T1005	U1			103.26	NPP
Respite in participant's home, remote (15 minutes)	T1005	U1	95		103.26	NPP
Respite in participant's home, remote (15 minutes)	T1005	95			103.26	ORG
Respite in participant's home, remote (per diem)	S9125	95			103.26	ORG
Respite in participant's home, remote (per diem)	S9125	UJ	95		103.26	ORG

### Personal care

#### Service codes

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Personal care services (15 minutes)	T1019				105.32	ORG

# Training services for unpaid caregivers

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Training services for unpaid caregivers (15 minutes)	S5115	HS			113.20	ORG
Training services for unpaid caregivers (each)	S5116	HS			113.20	ORG
Training services for unpaid caregivers, remote (15 minutes)	S5115	HS	95		113.20	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Training services for unpaid caregivers, remote (each)	S5116	HS	95		113.20	ORG

## Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers

#### Service codes

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers (family member) (each)	S5111	UK			113.10	ORG
Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers (non-family member) (each)	S5116	UK			113.10	ORG
Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers (family member) (15 minutes)	S5110	UK			113.10	ORG
Consultative clinical and therapeutic services for caregivers (non-family member) (15 minutes)	S5115	UK			113.10	ORG

### Specialized transportation

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Community transportation (miles)	S0215	RI			107.21	NPP
Community transportation (miles)	S0215	RI			107.21	ORG
Community transportation pass (each)	T2004	RI			107.20	ORG
Community transportation trip (each)	T2003	RI			107.20	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Community transportation trip or pass for participant's attendant (each)	T2001	RI			107.20	ORG

## Home-delivered meals

#### Service codes

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Home-delivered meal cost (each)	S5170				402.00	ORG

### Community dining centers

#### **Service codes**

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Community dining center meal (each)	S9977				402.00	ORG

## Aids, equipment, and supplies

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Assistive technology— purchase (each)	T2028	UN			112.99	ORG
Assistive technology— purchase, remote (each)	T2028	UN	95		112.99	ORG
Assistive technology (used)—purchase (each)	T2029	UN			112.58	ORG
Assistive technology (used)—purchase, remote (each)	T2029	UN	95		112.58	ORG
Communication aid— purchase (each)	E1399				112.47	ORG
Communication aid— purchase, remote (each)	E1399	95			112.47	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Electronic medication management device— purchase (each)	T1505				112.55	ORG
Electronic medication management device— purchase, remote (each)	T1505	95			112.55	ORG
Electronic medication management device— installation (each)	T2038	U5			112.55	ORG
Electronic medication management device— rental (each)	T1505	RR			112.55	ORG
Electronic medication management device— telephone line costs (each)	T2035	U5			112.55	ORG
Electronic support equipment (video, movement, sound)— installation and testing fees (each)	S5160				112.46	ORG
Electronic support equipment (video, movement, sound) - installation and testing fees, remote (each)	S5160	95			112.46	ORG
Interpreter service (each)	T1013				112.47	ORG
Interpreter service, remote (Each)	T1013	95			112.47	ORG
Personal emergency response system – One time purchase (each)	S5162				112.46	ORG
Personal emergency response system (PERS) – one time purchase, remote (each)	S5162	95			112.46	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Personal emergency response system (PERS) - installation and test fee (each)	S5160				112.46	ORG
Personal emergency response system (PERS) - monthly service fee (monthly)	S5161				112.46	ORG
Personal emergency response system (PERS) - monthly service fee, remote (monthly)	S5161	95			112.46	ORG
Specialized medical equipment - purchase (each)	T2029				112.58	ORG
Specialized medical equipment – purchase, remote (each)	T2029	95			112.58	ORG
Specialized medical supplies - purchase (each)	T2028				112.99	ORG
Specialized medical supplies – purchase, remote (each)	T2028	95			112.99	ORG

## **Treatment-related**

## Counseling and therapeutic services

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Alternative therapy session (each)	S8990				507.99	ORG
Alternative therapy session, remote (each)	S8990	95			507.99	ORG
Behavior treatment therapy (15 minutes)	H0004				507.19	ORG
Behavior treatment therapy, remote (15 minutes)	H0004	95			507.19	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Counseling and therapeutic day camp (per diem)	T2037	U9			103.99	ORG
Counseling and therapeutic day camp, remote (per diem)	T2037	U9	95		103.99	ORG
Counseling and therapeutic service (hourly)	99429				507.03	ORG
Counseling and therapeutic service in an overnight camp (each)	T2036				103.99	ORG
Counseling and therapeutic service in an overnight camp, remote (each)	T2036	95			103.99	ORG
Counseling and therapeutic service, remote (hourly)	99429	95			507.03	ORG
Counseling and therapeutic session expense (each)	T1999				507.04	ORG
Counseling and therapeutic session expense, remote (each)	T1999	95			507.03	ORG
Fitness class (each)	S9451				403.03	ORG
Fitness class, remote (each)	S9451	95			403.03	ORG
Health club membership fee—initial (each)	S9970	U3			403.03	ORG
Health club membership fee (annual)	S9970	U2			403.03	ORG
Health club membership fee (monthly)	S9970	U1			403.03	ORG
Massage therapy (15 minutes)	97124				507.11	ORG
Massage therapy, remote (15 minutes)	97124	95			507.11	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Nutritional counseling session (each)	S9470				507.14	ORG
Nutritional counseling session, remote (each)	S9470	95			507.14	ORG
Occupational therapy in the participant's home (per diem)	S9129				507.12	ORG
Occupational therapy in the participant's home, remote (per diem)	S9129	95			507.12	ORG
Physical therapy in the participant's home (per diem)	S9131				507.11	ORG
Physical therapy in the participant's home, remote (per diem)	S9131	95			507.11	ORG
Recreation or community day camp (per diem)	T2037				103.99	ORG
Recreation or community day camp, remote (per diem)	T2037	95			103.99	ORG
Speech therapy session (each)	92507				507.13	ORG
Speech therapy session, remote (each)	92507	95			507.13	ORG
Weight management counseling session (each)	S9449				507.99	ORG
Weight management counseling session, remote (each)	S9449	95			507.99	ORG

## Participant education and training

#### Service codes

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Consumer education and training individual session (each)	S9445				113.00	ORG
Consumer education and training group session (each)	S9446				113.00	ORG

## Day services

#### Service codes

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Adult day care (15 minutes)	S5100				102.00	ORG
Adult day care (per diem)	S5102				102.00	ORG
Adult day care specialized service (per diem)	S5105				102.00	ORG
Adult day care specialized services (15 minutes)	S5105	U8			102.00	ORG
Community-based day services (per diem)	T2020	UA			706.00	ORG
Community-based day services (15 minutes)	T2021	UA			706.00	ORG
Community-based day service, remote (per diem)	T2020	UA	95		706.00	ORG
Community-based day services, remote (15 minutes)	T2021	UA	95		706.00	ORG
Facility-based day service (per diem)	T2020	UB			706.00	ORG
Facility-based day services (15 minutes)	T2021	UB			706.00	ORG

ILSP Service Definition Manual

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Facility-based day service, remote (per diem)	T2020	UB	95		706.00	ORG
Facility-based day services, remote (15 minutes)	T2021	UB	95		706.00	ORG

# Employment

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Supported employment— group (3–8 people) (15 minutes)	T2019	UP			615.00	ORG
Supported employment, remote—group (3–8 people) (15 minutes)	T2019	UP	95		615.00	ORG
Supported employment— group (3–8 people) (per diem)	T2018	UP			615.00	ORG
Supported employment, remote—group (3–8 people) (per diem)	T2018	UP	95		615.00	ORG
Supported employment— group (3–8 people) (each)	T2018	U7	UP		615.00	ORG
Supported employment— group, remote (3–8 people) (each)	T2018	U7	UP	95	615.00	ORG
Supported employment in an integrated setting (1–2 people) (15 minutes)	T2019	UN			615.00	ORG
Supported employment in an integrated setting (1–2 people) (per diem)	T2018	UN			615.00	ORG
Supported employment in an integrated setting (1–2 people) (each)	T2018	U7	UN		615.00	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Supported employment in an integrated setting, remote (1–2 people) (each)	T2018	U7	UN	95	615.00	ORG
Supported employment in an integrated setting, remote (1–2 people) (per diem)	T2018	UN	95		615.00	ORG
Supported employment in an integrated setting (1–2 people) (15 minutes)	T2019	UN	U1		615.00	NPP
Supported employment in an integrated setting, remote (1–2 people) (15 minutes)	T2019	UN	U1	95	615.00	NPP
Work incentive benefits counseling (15 minutes)	T2019	U6			615.00	ORG
Work incentive benefits counseling (each)	T2018	U6			615.00	ORG
Work incentive benefits counseling, group session (3–8 people) (15 minutes)	T2019	U6	UP		615.00	ORG
Work incentive benefits counseling, group session (3–8 people) (each)	T2018	U6	U7	UP	615.00	ORG

# Other

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Assistive technology or accessibility assessment (each)	97755				999.00	ORG
Background check for non-professional providers (each)	ILSP3				999.02	ORG
Financial management services (15 minutes)	T2040				609.00	ORG

Good or service	Code	Modifier 1	Modifier 2	Modifier 3	SPC code	Provider type
Financial management services (each)	T2050				609.00	ORG
Individual-directed goods and services (each)	T5999				109.00	ORG
Individual-directed goods and services, remote (each)	T5999	95			109.00	ORG
Individual-directed goods and services (each)	T5999				109.00	NPP
Individual-directed goods and services, remote (each)	T5999	95			109.00	NPP
Legal services (15 minutes)	ILSP 1				605.00	ORG
Legal services (each)	ILSP2				605.00	ORG
Support broker services (15 minutes)	T2041				619.00	ORG
Support broker services, remote (15 minutes)	T2041	95			619.00	ORG
Vehicle modification (each)	T2039				112.57	ORG